RECEIVED

04-23-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP001609-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FAITH N. REED,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Monroe County Circuit Court, the Honorable David J. Rice, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

JOSEPH N. EHMANN Regional Attorney Manager – Madison Appellate State Bar No. 1016411

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8388 ehmannj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Officer Keller's warrantless entry into and search of Ms. Reed's apartment violate Ms. Reed's Fourth Amendment right to be free from an unreasonable governmental search?

The circuit court ruled: The search did not violate the Fourth Amendment because Officer Keller had implied consent from Kirk Sullivan to accompany Sullivan to the apartment and entry was justified because Keller needed to make sure he knew what was going on right in front of him.

The court of appeals affirmed, ruling Mr. Sullivan granted Keller "uncoerced, unequivocal, and specific consent to enter" Ms. Reed's apartment, thereby obviating the need for a warrant as the Fourth Amendment otherwise requires.

2. Did Mr. Sullivan withdraw implied consent for Officer Keller to enter Ms. Reed's apartment by attempting to close the door prior to Keller's entry?

The circuit court ruled that consent was not withdrawn because the court thought it ambiguous as to exactly who tried to close the door. The court of appeals concluded Sullivan closing the door may have shown a "last-second concern about agreeing to allow Keller to enter," but ruled it merely a "nuanced possible delaying tactic" and thus not an unequivocal withdrawal of implied consent.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This court's decision to grant review suggests both oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND OF FACTS

On December 13, 2015, police conducted a warrantless search of Ms. Reed's home as police looked to speak with a person who police had reason to believe may have been involved in a verbal argument over a pair of shoes. Based on evidence found as a result of the warrantless entry, the state on December 15, 2015, charged Ms. Reed with one count each of possession of a dextroamphetamine sulfate (Adderall) pill, possession of a illegally obtained prescription drug (the Adderall pill), possession of THC, and bail jumping; all misdemeanor offenses. (1:1-4).

On February 9, 2016, Ms. Reed filed a motion to suppress evidence on the basis the warrantless search violated her rights under the 4th, 5th and 14th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, §§ 8 and 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (16; 17). Specifically, the motion alleged the entry and search occurred without police first obtaining a warrant or consent, and therefore the evidence obtained from the unlawful search must be suppressed. *Id*.

The court conducted a hearing on March 15, 2016. (20). To meet its burden of proof the District Attorney presented the testimony of Tomah Police Officer Steven Keller and played the video/audio recording of events captured by Officer Keller's body camera, which included the

actions and all conversation relevant to the warrantless entry and suppression issue.

Officer Keller testified that at 1:20 p.m. on Sunday, December 13, 2015, he was "dispatched to the area of 308 Murdock" in Tomah "in reference to an altercation between a couple of subjects in the street." (20:7). Upon his arrival at that address Keller observed two individuals, a bearded white man and a black man, standing in the street talking. (20:7-11; 19 at :29). When Officer Keller asked "What's going on," both men walked toward Keller. (19 at :30). The bearded white man, later identified as witness Daniel Cannon, replied "They were fighting over stupid shit." (19 at :33). Keller testified the "they" were two brothers, Jerome Harris and Brandon Harris, who Keller learned from Cannon had been arguing over a pair of shoes. (20:8; 19 at 1:46-1:50).

When Officer Keller asked "Were you guys involved" Cannon responded "Ah...we were trying to break it up." (20:9; 19 at :39-:41). Cannon informed Keller the brothers left, going in opposite directions to different residences. (20:8; 19 at :34, :42-1:08). One brother went to 308 Murdock Street, Apartment 11 and the other went to 940 Grandview Avenue, Apartment 204. (20:8).

While Officer Keller was speaking with Cannon and directing other officers over his radio to where he believed the Harris brothers were, the black man who had been standing near Cannon, later identified as Kirk Sullivan, walked away, heading back toward his apartment. (20:10; 19

¹ The video recording is imprinted with a running clock. References to particular portions of the recording will begin with the document number "19" followed by the time at which the particular event referenced appears in the recording.

at 1:01-1:16). Keller testified this "behavior appeared to be suspicious to me." (20:10). Keller directed Sullivan to return, stating "Hey, why don't you come back here. Don't just leave." (19 at 1:16). Sullivan complied. (19 at 1:16-1:22). When Sullivan walked the 15 steps back to where Officer Keller and Cannon were standing Keller directed Sullivan to "Keep your hands out of your pockets for me, ok." (19 at 1:24) Sullivan complied, raising his hands and presenting his open palms to Keller. (19 at 1:25).

When asked at the hearing if Sullivan "would have been free to go about his business" had he ignored Keller's directive to return, Officer Keller responded "No, because I needed to take—I was conducting an investigation and needed to gather more information regarding the altercation." (20:20).

On the video, as Cannon explained to Officer Keller that he and Sullivan were "both trying to defuse the situation," Sullivan uttered his first word, stating "Yup." (19 at 1:39). As Cannon further explained to Keller that they were supposed to be watching football, Officer Keller asked Sullivan "Ok, so you were involved in this?" (19 at 1:56). Mr. Sullivan responded "I was just trying to break it up. That's it." (19 at 1:59).

After obtaining identification and running warrant checks, Keller questioned Cannon further confirming there was no physical fight, but just a verbal argument over a pair of shoes. (19 at 2:02-4:25) Keller then asked "Can you guys stick around this area for a moment," to which Cannon responded "Oh, yeah" and Sullivan "You mean outside?" (20:10; 19 at 4:46-4:50). Keller asked "Well, do you want to hang out in this building," which prompted laughter and Sullivan saying "I was going to watch the game." (19 at 4:51-

4:57). Keller replied "I know, until we can get everything straightened out." (19 at 4:58).

At that point Cannon turned to Mr. Sullivan and said "Well, cuz he went to your house, is at your apartment..." and Sullivan responded "Yeah, he supposed to go to my, my apartment to watch football." (19 at 5:00-5:04). Cannon then suggested to Officer Keller "So, I mean if you want to go with him and I can stand by where I live." (19 at 5:08). When Keller asked Sullivan "Who's at your house right now, one of the guys involved" Cannon, not Sullivan, answered "Yes." (19 at 5:11-5:13). Keller asked Sullivan "Alright, and he's over there right now?" and Sullivan replied "I don't know, I don't know, he's supposed to though." (19 at 5:17-5:19). Cannon then chimed in stating "No, I saw him walk that way (gesturing toward Faith Reed's apartment where Sullivan was staying), he might be there already...so...," which prompted Sullivan to shrug. (19 at 5:21-5:25).

Officer Keller learned from the dispatcher that Sullivan was on probation for crimes involving Faith Reed. (19 at 5:36) There was some question about whether a nocontact order was in place, and it was resolved there was not. (19 at 6:05-6:29). Keller then asked Sullivan "Who is over at your house right now that was involved in this, what's his name?" (19 at 6:35). Sullivan replied "Ah, Jerome. He's supposed to, he supposed to go over there. I stood out here and me and him was talking about it." (19 at 6:38).

At that point Keller spoke over his radio with other officers who were at the door of the apartment where the other brother, Brandon, was supposed to be. (19 at 6:44-7:16). Keller confirmed from Cannon and Sullivan that there was nothing physical, it was "just a verbal argument," and Keller reported that to the other officers. (19 at 7:17-7:34).

While another officer on the radio was asking for a "wanted check" for Jerome Harris and Brandon Harris, Officer Keller gestured or pointed and said to Sullivan: "Alright, let's go...ah...let's go look over...see if he's over there. If anything we could just all kind of talk to him." (19 at 7:48). As Keller gestured and started to walk past him, Sullivan complied with Keller's "let's go" directive by turning around to follow. (19 at 7:52). Cannon then asked Keller "Do you mind if I go..." and Keller responded telling Cannon "You're good to go," as Keller started walking with Sullivan. (19 at 7:55-7:59). Keller's bodycam video shows Keller walking toward the apartment with Sullivan not in view (i.e. not directly in front of him). (19 at 7:58). However, as Officer Keller walked and pivoted his body left the video shows Sullivan walking next to Keller, on Keller's left. (19 at 8:07, 8:19).

Approximately 30 seconds into the walk Officer Keller said "Hey, do you want to step over here with me. I am going to see if this other party is over here." (19 at 8:27) The video then shows Sullivan for the first time walking in camera view in front and entering a common area of the apartment building through an unlocked door. (19 at 8:28-8:42). Keller entered behind Sullivan and continued following Sullivan upstairs through another unlocked hallway door. (19 at 8:42-9:00). While walking down the second floor hallway, Keller said into his radio "Andy, I'll be in apartment number 206." (19 at 9:13).

Officer Keller testified that when Sullivan arrived at the apartment door Sullivan "just briefly knocked, opened the door and started walking in." (20:12). The video shows Sullivan opened the door just wide enough to let himself in. (19 at 9:17). Sullivan then attempted to close the door behind him while calling out inside for Jerome. (20:17; 19 at 9:15-

9:20). Keller testified "The door was not fully closed, but was closing in the process." (20:26). As Sullivan attempted to close the door Keller called out "Hey, don't just walk in like that." (1:2; 19 at 9:21).

Officer Keller then put his hand on the door to stop it from closing. (20:12). Keller testified that when "he placed [his] hand on the door to keep the door open," he could see "there was another male subject inside." (20:12). After reaching out (and therefore "in") to stop the door from closing, Keller testified he then "pushed it further to—to see who that other subject was that was standing in there." (20:26-27). Keller stated he then "could see at that time from the doorway that there was another male subject inside...standing at the counter appearing to conceal something in front of him." (20:12).

The video confirms that as Keller pushed the door back open a person later identified as Jerome Harris was in the kitchen area standing with his back to the front door. (19 at 9:22). At that point Keller walked fully into the apartment, discovered a bag of what appeared to be marijuana on the counter near where Jerome had been standing, and observed Sullivan appearing to conceal something that turned out to be a joint Jerome had just given to him. (20:18; 19 at 9:24-9:50).

When asked at the hearing "Did Mr. Sullivan give you permission to go into the apartment?" Officer Keller responded "He did not." (20:25). Keller added "He did not tell me that I had to stay out of the apartment nor did he tell me to just come right in, either." *Id.* Keller stated "[a]t no point did he (Sullivan) tell me that I could not follow him into the residence." (20:12). Officer Keller testified that he placed

his hand on the door and opened it "[f]or safety concerns," explaining:

I was looking for a subject with a possible warrant and as well as being involved in an altercation. I was concerned about possibly being weapons involved, so for my safety and the destruction of any type of evidence, I kept the door open to visually see inside the residence as he was entering.

(20:13).

The video shows that at the time Sullivan entered the apartment and tried to close the door, Faith Reed was sitting on the couch in the living room area and she walked to the door to meet Officer Keller as Keller walked in. (19 at 9:19, 9:24). Keller arrested Ms. Reed for possession of the marijuana. (1:5). Ms. Reed was transported to the jail where another officer during booking discovered the Adderall pill in Reed's sock. (1:5-6).

The court in ruling on Ms. Reed's motion began by stating "the facts here come from the video." (20:40; App. 120). The court ruled that when Mr. Sullivan attempted to leave and Officer Keller "yelled ...something to the effect of, 'Hey, why don't you come back, don't just leave,'" because there was "no indication...Mr. Sullivan was any kind of a suspect in this matter or was trying to escape...the officer was not ordering him to come back." (20:41; App. 121) The court added it did not think "that this placed [Mr. Sullivan] under any particular compulsion since he was not a suspect and not suspected of doing anything wrong." (20:42; App. 122)

The court stated because Sullivan "did come back" and answered Officer Keller's questions, Mr. Sullivan's actions "in walking to that location and leading the officers to—the

officer to that location...would indicate that he was freely and voluntarily by his conduct implying his consent to the officer going there with him to find [Jerome Harris]." (20:42, 45; App. 122, 125). The court reiterated, "I conclude that by his conduct Mr. Sullivan freely and voluntarily implied that the officer could follow him to this location and that he was going to locate and identify Mr. Harris who was one of the suspects in connection with this altercation so that the officer could talk with him." (20:46; App. 126).

The court stated it was not clear who attempted to close the door, whether "it was Mr. Sullivan or it was one of the individuals in the apartment." (20:43-44; App.123-24). The court added "There is no indication that—from Mr. Sullivan that he had—had objected to the officer opening the door." (20:44; App. 124). The court stated "there was nothing about his entry into the room that revoked—revoked that consent that the officer follow him." (20:46; App. 126). The court ruled that "because it was not clear to me who closed the door," the circumstances surrounding the door closing were too "ambiguous" to be interpreted as a revocation of the consent the court believed Sullivan had given Keller by allowing Keller to accompany him to the apartment after being directed by Keller to do so. (20:46-47; App. 126-27).

Although the court stated "there was nothing about this incident or about the individuals that indicated that there was an immediate threat to the officer," the court nevertheless also ruled the entry justified because "the officer's concerns for his safety under the circumstances were legitimate." (20:45; App. 125). The court noted Keller was "in a narrow hallway... all alone" and stated:

I think that when an officer's in a location like that alone and they're isolated and there are other people who are wanted, there's a warrant for their arrest, it's a legitimate concern that the officer makes sure he knows who's doing what right in front of him.

(20:45-46; App. 125-26).

The court denied Ms. Reed's motion. (20:47; App. 127).

Thereafter, Ms. Reed pled no contest to the possession of the pill and to bail jumping.

Ms. Reed appealed.

On March 23, 2017, the court of appeals issued a decision affirming the judgment. (App. 102-118). The court ruled Officer Keller's warrantless entry into Ms. Reed's apartment was lawful because in the court's view Keller received "uncoerced, unequivocal and specific consent to enter from someone with actual or apparent authority to give consent." (App. 103, ¶ 1).

Ms. Reed filed a petition for review. The Attorney General responded setting forth a detailed argument, agreeing that the lower courts erred in concluding Mr. Sullivan consented to Officer Keller's entry into Ms. Reed's apartment. Accordingly, the Attorney General asked this court to accept review, reverse, and remand with directions to suppress the evidence. (AG's Aug. 1, 2017, response, p. 1)

This court granted review and remanded the case to the court of appeals for reconsideration. On October 19, 2017, District IV Court of Appeals Judge Blanchard issued a ruling that did not engage the issue, but stated simply: "I am not persuaded by the State's new legal argument on appeal and therefore do not accept the State's new concession."

(App. 101) The court concluded: "reconsideration is denied." *Id.*

Ms. Reed again with the Attorney General petitioned this court for review, which the court granted.

ARGUMENT

I. Because Officer Keller Entered Ms. Reed's Apartment without First Obtaining a Warrant or Consent, and No Other Exigency Justified the Entry, the Entry and Subsequent Search Violated Ms. Reed's Constitutional Right to be Free from the Government's Unreasonable Search.

It is beyond dispute that Officer Keller never specifically requested and that Mr. Sullivan never expressly granted Keller permission to enter Ms. Reed's apartment. Nor was consent to enter implied by Mr. Sullivan's compliance with Keller's directive that they go to the apartment. Mr. Sullivan unambiguously tried to terminate his contact with Officer Keller first by walking away, and later by trying to close his apartment door while Keller was still outside. From the time Officer Keller seized Mr. Sullivan for questioning as a witness to the alleged verbal argument between two brothers over a pair of shoes, Keller dictated or directed Sullivan's actions or movements. A person seized by police who complies with a police directive to go to a place does not by the act of compliance imply his free and voluntary consent for police to go to and enter that place. Under these circumstances Keller's warrantless entry into Ms. Reed's violated Ms. Reed's apartment Fourth Amendment right to be free from an unreasonable

governmental search.² Consequently, the lower courts' orders denying Ms. Reed's suppression motion and upholding the judgment must be reversed.

As a preliminary matter, Ms. Reed acknowledges that Officer Keller reasonably believed Mr. Sullivan had authority or apparent authority to consent to entry of Reed's apartment. But, as will be demonstrated below, there was no consent.

A. Relevant law and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment protects the "right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const., amend. IV. The Court declares it "axiomatic that the physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 748 (1984). That is, at the "very core [of the Fourth Amendment] stands the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusions." Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 589-90 (1980). To that end, "[i]t is well settled under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments that a search conducted without a warrant...is per se unreasonable subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973).

The "specifically established and well-delineated exceptions" for a warrantless governmental entry into a private home are two—"exigent circumstances or consent." *Steagald v. United States*, 451 U.S. 204, 206 (1981). For an

² Although Ms. Reed challenges the warrantless search on the basis of rights conferred by both the U.S. Constitution and Wisconsin Constitutions, for short-hand purposes Ms. Reed in her brief will refer to the Fourth Amendment only.

appropriately reined-in consent exception to be valid, consent must be freely and voluntarily given. *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 222. Consent that is the product of duress or coercion is not voluntary. *Id.* at 227, *State v.* (Gary) *Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 60, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182, (J. Roggensack dissenting). Consent also is not voluntary if based on "no more than acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority." *State v. Brar*, 2017 WI 73, ¶ 24, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499, quoting *Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 543, 548-49 (1968).

Consent to search does not have to be expressed verbally, but rather can be given or inferred in a non-verbal form through "gestures or conduct." *Brar*, *Id.* at ¶ 17; *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 37, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367. However, consent should not be lightly inferred; consent justifying a warrantless constitutionally protected search must be unequivocal and specific. *Gautreaux v. State*, 52 Wis. 2d 489, 492, 190 N.W.2d 542 (1971); *State v.* (Donnell) *Johnson*, 177 Wis. 2d 224, 233, 501 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1993).

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