RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-06-2018

IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP1609-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FAITH N. REED,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID J. RICE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Director, Criminal Appeals Unit Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Sullivan's consent was also voluntary even if he was in custody when he consented. Similar to the defendant in *Watson*, Sullivan consented when he was in the driveway of a parking lot in the daytime. (R. 19:Ex.17:53–8:40.) His consent was even more voluntary than the defendant's in *Watson* because, at most, Sullivan was temporarily in custody during an investigative stop. (*See* Reed's Br. 18–25.) Although an arrest and an investigative stop both constitute a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes, an investigative stop is "only a minor infringement on personal liberty," while an arrest "is a more permanent detention." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 20, 22. Because being under arrest did not render the defendant's consent involuntary in *Watson*, the alleged investigative stop of Sullivan did not invalidate his consent either.

Reed argues that Sullivan simply acquiesced to Officer Keller's requests. (Reed's Br. 26–28.) Reed's argument gets her nowhere because "[a]cquiescence' commonly indicates assent, however grudging." Carter, 378 F.3d at 589. "A defendant's silence and acquiescence may support a finding of voluntary consent." United States v. Patten, 183 F.3d 1190, 1194 (10th Cir. 1999) (emphasis added). Of course, "[a]cquiescence to an *unlawful* assertion of police authority is not equivalent to consent." State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 16, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182 (emphasis added) (citation omitted); see also id. ¶¶ 67, 71 (Roggensack, J., dissenting) (arguing that acquiescence "is not the silver bullet to set aside voluntarily given consent" and "only that acquiescence that consent evidences involuntary violatesconstitutional

guarantees"). But Reed's acquiescence argument fails because she does not explain why—or even seem to allege that—Sullivan was acquiescing to *unlawful* assertions of authority by Officer Keller. (See Reed's Br. 26–28.) She instead seems to concede that, if Sullivan was in custody when he allegedly gave consent, the custody was *lawful*. (See id. at 18–25.)

In short, Sullivan voluntarily gave Officer Keller consent to enter his and Reed's apartment.

C. Sullivan did not withdraw his consent.

A person's consent to search remains valid "until someone withdraws the consent." *United States v. Jackson*, 598 F.3d 340, 347 (7th Cir. 2010). "Withdrawal of consent need not be effectuated through particular 'magic words,' but an intent to withdraw consent must be made by unequivocal act or statement." *Wantland*, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶ 33 (quoting *United States v. Sanders*, 424 F.3d 768, 774 (8th Cir. 2005)). "[C]onduct withdrawing consent must be an act clearly inconsistent with the apparent consent to search, an unambiguous statement challenging the officer's authority to conduct the search, or some combination of both." *Sanders*, 424 F.3d at 774 (quoting *Burton v. United States*, 657 A.2d 741, 746–47 (D.C. 1994)).

Closing a door does not necessarily withdraw consent to search. In an Oregon case, the defendant did not withdraw his consent to search his bedroom by closing and locking the door as he exited the bedroom to speak to police. *State v. Luther*, 663 P.2d 1261, 1263 (Or. App.), *aff'd*, 672 P.2d 691 (Or. 1983). The court reasoned that the defendant tried to open the door when it was locked and "made no objection to the police obtaining the key [from his mother] or opening the door." *Id*.

In a California case, by contrast, an apartment tenant let police officers into her home, one officer went into the kitchen and then "headed toward a bedroom with its door ajar," the tenant "ran in front of the officer and attempted to close the bedroom door," and "[t]he officer pushed open the door." *People v. Hamilton*, 214 Cal. Rptr. 596, 597 (Cal. Ct. App. 1985). The court concluded that, even if the defendant had consented to a search by opening the front door for the officers to enter her apartment, she withdrew her consent to enter the bedroom by trying to close the bedroom door. *Id.* at 602.

In an instructive case not involving a door, a sudden movement did not withdraw consent to search. In *Burton*, police officers boarded a Greyhound bus in a drug-interdiction effort. 657 A.2d at 742. Burton consented to a search of his person. *Id.* at 743. The officer noticed a bulge in Burton's left inner jacket pocket. *Id.* As the officer started searching Burton, Burton turned toward the bus window and put his hand into that pocket. *Id.* The officer told Burton to remove his hand from his pocket, and he complied. *Id.* The officer found cocaine in that pocket. *Id.*

The D.C. Court of Appeals concluded that Burton had not unequivocally withdrawn his consent to search by putting his hand into his pocket. *Id.* at 748–49. It reasoned that Burton did not say anything to police after he gave consent to search, even when he complied with the request to remove his hand from his pocket. *Id.* at 748. The court further noted that "there were a number of possible explanations for [Burton's] conduct." *Id.* Burton's "furtive actions could reasonably have been interpreted" as, among other things, "an attempt to hide the contents of his pocket or to acquire a weapon," a "reflexive response of a guilty conscience," or "an attempt to discard the drugs before they were found on [Burton's] person." *Id.*

Here, similarly, Sullivan did not unequivocally withdraw his consent for Officer Keller to enter his and Reed's apartment. Officer Keller had three pieces of information that allowed him to reasonably interpret Sullivan's attempt to

close the apartment door in several different ways. First, Officer Keller knew that Sullivan and Jerome were not very law-abiding. He knew that Sullivan was on probation for battery, strangulation, and suffocation. (R. 19:Ex.1 5:35–45.) And Officer Keller was going to Sullivan and Reed's apartment to look for Jerome, who recently had a verbal fight outside and who reportedly had an arrest warrant. (R. 19:Ex.1 7:54–8:22; 20:8, 10–11.)

Second, right before Officer Keller entered the apartment, he observed suspicious behavior by both Sullivan and Jerome. Sullivan knocked on the door before entering the unit *where he lived* (R. 20:43; 19:Ex.1 9:15–20), which is unusual and suspicious. Before Officer Keller entered the apartment, he saw Jerome through the doorway trying to conceal something. (R. 20:12, 25–26.)

Based on those facts, Sullivan's apparent attempt to close the door was an equivocal, furtive movement—like the defendant's putting his hand into his pocket in *Burton*. As in *Burton*, the officer here could have reasonably interpreted Sullivan's furtive movement in several different ways. For example, it was reasonable to think that Sullivan was trying to buy time to grab a weapon, hide contraband, or allow the people inside the apartment to do either of those things or stop engaging in illegal behavior. It was also reasonable to view Sullivan's conduct as a reflexive response of a guilty conscience—in other words, to think that Sullivan was reflexively closing the door because he thought that people in the apartment were engaging in illegal conduct or had contraband in plain view.

Third, Sullivan's silence supports the conclusion that his conduct was equivocal. Like the defendant in *Burton*, who did not say anything after giving consent to search, Sullivan did not say anything to Officer Keller as he led the officer into the apartment building and toward his and Reed's unit.

(R. 19:Ex.1 8:00–9:20.) See also Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶ 43 (relying on Wantland's long stretch of silence as one reason why his question about a search warrant was insufficient to withdraw consent). Moreover, Sullivan (and Jerome and Reed) did not object when Officer Keller opened the door and entered the apartment—like the defendant in the Oregon Luther case, who did not object when police unlocked his bedroom door and entered his bedroom. (R. 19:Ex.1 9:20–50.)

Reed's case is a far cry from the California *Hamilton* case. A tenant in *Hamilton* withdrew her consent by running ahead of an officer and trying to close an open bedroom door as the officer was about to enter the bedroom. Nothing like that happened here. At Officer Keller's request, Sullivan led Officer Keller from a parking lot outside, through an apartment building, all the way to his and Reed's unit door. (R. 19:Ex.1 7:55–9:20.) That whole time, Officer Keller could reasonably think that Sullivan was consenting to the officer's entry into the unit. Sullivan's last-second, soft push on the door was open to several reasonable interpretations, unlike the tenant's closing the bedroom door in *Hamilton*.

Reed's arguments are unavailing. She cites *Burton* and *Commonwealth v. Suters*, 60 N.E.3d 383, 391 (Mass. App. Ct. 2016), for the proposition that "courts consistently rule closing a door or attempting to close a door is an unequivocal act terminating any previously given consent to enter." (Reed's Br. 38.) Those cases do not help Reed.

Burton did not involve a door. The Burton court simply noted that the courts in Hamilton and Luther had reached different conclusions on whether closing a door withdrew consent. Burton, 657 A.2d at 747 & n.14.

In *Suters*, the defendant let police into her basement to help fix a water problem. *Suters*, 60 N.E.3d at 388. While the

officers were looking for the water-shutoff valve in the basement, the defendant's husband entered the basement and said that he knew where the shutoff valve was. *Id.* He then walked past the officers, entered a separate room, and closed the door behind him. *Id.* The court concluded that the husband's closing the door withdrew "any consent that may previously have been given by [the defendant]" to enter that room. *Id.* at 391. And "[t]here was no indication that [the husband] was incapable of turning off the water or needed assistance in doing so." *Id.* at 393.

Suters is distinguishable from Reed's case. The person who withdrew consent in Suters had never suggested that police should follow him into the separate room, nor did he engage in any ambiguous conduct at the doorway. And there was no reason for police to follow him into the separate room. His closing the door was therefore unequivocal. Here, by contrast, Officer Keller had reason to believe that Sullivan was leading him to Reed's apartment so that Officer Keller could go inside to speak to Jerome. Thus, Sullivan's ambiguous conduct at the doorway—knocking, opening the door just far enough for him to slip inside, and then softly pushing the door—did not unequivocally withdraw his consent.

Reed further argues that she and Sullivan were not required to physically resist Officer Keller's entry. (Reed's Br. 38–39.) The State does not argue otherwise. Sullivan or Reed could have withdrawn consent by, for example, telling Officer Keller, "Wait outside."

Reed seems to argue that Officer Keller could not rely on Jerome's attempt to conceal something because Officer Keller made that observation *after* he had crossed the threshold into the apartment. (Reed's Br. 32 & n.13.) But Officer Keller testified that he had made that observation after he began pushing the door open but *before* he crossed the threshold into the apartment. (R. 20:25–26.)

In any event, Officer Keller's observation of Jerome is relevant to the consent-withdrawal analysis even if it occurred after Officer Keller had initiated a search by entering the apartment. When determining whether a particular act unequivocally withdrew consent to search, courts routinely consider subsequent facts, such cooperation or conversations with police during a search. See, e.g., United States v. \$304,980.00 in U.S. Currency, 732 F.3d 812, 821 (7th Cir. 2013); United States v. Joseph, 892 F.2d 118, 122 (D.C. Cir. 1989); Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶ 39. This approach makes sense because a court must consider "the totality of the circumstances" when determining whether consent to search was withdrawn and because an officer may proceed with a search instead of clarifying whether an ambiguous action was meant to withdraw consent. See Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶¶ 44–47. Because Sullivan's soft push on the door was ambiguous, Officer Keller was permitted to rely on Sullivan's previously given consent to enter the apartment. Officer Keller's subsequent observation of Jerome trying to conceal something bolstered the conclusion that Sullivan's gentle push on the door could reasonably be interpreted as, for example, an attempt to allow Jerome to conceal a weapon or contraband.

In sum, Sullivan voluntarily consented to allow Officer Keller to enter his and Reed's apartment, and he did not withdraw that consent. Thus, Officer Keller's entry into the apartment was lawful.

II. Alternatively, exigent circumstances justified Officer Keller's entry into Reed's apartment.

Police may perform a warrantless entry into a home if there are exigent circumstances, such as "a threat to the safety of a suspect or others" or "a likelihood that the suspect will flee." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 29. A court applies "an objective test" when determining if exigent circumstances existed: "[w]hether a police officer under the circumstances known to the officer at the time [of entry] reasonably believes that delay in procuring a warrant would gravely endanger life or risk destruction of evidence or greatly enhance the likelihood of the suspect's escape." Id. ¶ 30 (alterations in original) (citation omitted).

"The State bears the burden of proving the existence of exigent circumstances." Id. ¶ 29. When the exigent circumstances do not involve possible destruction of evidence, the State need not establish that there was probable cause to believe that a search would produce evidence of a crime. *United States v. Holloway*, 290 F.3d 1331, 1337–38 (11th Cir. 2002).

A court must "weigh the urgency of the officer's need to enter against the time needed to obtain a warrant." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 28. When determining whether an exigent threat to safety existed, a court may consider the possible presence of weapons, whether a suspect was considered dangerous, the number of officers and civilians involved, and whether the suspect was aware of police presence. *See State v. Kiekhefer*, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 477, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997). A police officer's subjective beliefs are relevant to the extent they help a court apply that objective test. *State v. Leutenegger*, 2004 WI App 127, ¶ 19, 275 Wis. 2d 512, 685 N.W.2d 536.

In *State v. Kirby*, two police officers went to an apartment to question young men who had reportedly been fighting outside. 2014 WI App 74, ¶¶ 4–5, 355 Wis. 2d 423, 851 N.W.2d 796. The door to the apartment unit was open, and five men were inside. Id. ¶ 6. When the officers were about to leave after speaking with the men, one officer

received a phone call and learned that an informant had told police that if there was a black backpack in the apartment, it had a handgun and sawed-off shotgun inside. Id. ¶ 9. The officer then noticed a black backpack, opened it, and found a sawed-off shotgun. Id. ¶ 12. The court of appeals held that the possible threat to officer safety justified the officer's search of the backpack. Id. ¶¶ 18–19. It noted that "even had the officer been outside the threshold of the apartment," she would have been justified in entering it to look for the backpack. Id. ¶ 18.

In $State\ v.\ Ayala$, police officers lawfully entered the defendant's bedroom without a warrant because of the chance that he could try to escape. 2011 WI App 6, ¶ 19, 331 Wis. 2d 171, 793 N.W.2d 511. Police had probable cause to arrest the defendant for a homicide and armed robberies. Id. ¶ 18. The court of appeals concluded that exigent circumstances justified the officers' entry into the bedroom. Id. ¶ 19. It reasoned that, had the officers waited for a warrant or taken time to secure the property, the defendant could have awoken and discovered the police presence, which would have increased the likelihood of injury or an attempted escape. Id. It further reasoned that other people in the apartment or a downstairs tavern could have tried to help the defendant escape. Id.

Here, exigent circumstances likewise justified Officer Keller's entry into Reed's apartment for two separate reasons: (1) Officer Keller reasonably believed that he was in danger; and (2) Officer Keller could reasonably think that Jerome would likely try to escape. Three sets of facts support both of those conclusions.³

³ This Court may review an issue that was not raised in a petition for review or response to the petition. *See, e.g., State v. Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 63 n.15, 373 Wis. 2d 390, 891 N.W.2d 144.

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